
SPECIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Tuesday, 14th March, 2017
Time: 10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby                      Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

To receive declarations by Members and/ or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
other registrable interests which have not already been declared in the 
Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting). 

Members are advised however, in the interests of clarity and transparency, 
to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as any 
other interests. 

Members are reminded that they may not, by law, participate or vote in 
any discussion in a meeting on a matter in which they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest 

Members are advised that they should leave the room during consideration 
of any items of business in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest.

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2017 1 - 4

Public Document Pack



4. Copeland Pride of Place Scheme - Town/Village Centres Building 
Regeneration. 

5 - 12

5. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be held on 
Tuesday 11 April 2017 at 4:00pm – Venue to be confirmed.

Membership: Councillors Raymond Gill (Chair), Keith Hitchen (Deputy Chair), Hugh Branney, 
Anne Bradshaw, Yvonne Clarkson, Raymond Cole, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, 
Mark Holliday, Sam Meteer, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen and Felicity Wilson

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 21ST FEBRUARY 2017

Present: Councillors Raymond Gill (Chairman); Hugh Branney; Keith Hitchen; Mark 
Holliday; Sam Meteer; Brian O’Kane; and Sam Pollen.

Officers: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor; Louise Coid, Health and Safety Inspector (minutes OSC 
68 to 71); and Jackie O’Reilly, Environmental Health Manager (minutes OSC 68 to 
71).

OSC/68 Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Anne Bradshaw, Raymond 
Cole, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster and Felicity Wilson.

OSC/69 Declarations of interest

No declarations of interest were made.

OSC/70 Minutes of the meeting held on the 10th January 2017 (and reconvened on the 
17th January 2017) and the 10th February 2017

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meetings held the 10th January 2017 (and 
reconvened on the 17th January 2017) and on the 10th February 2017 be signed 
by the Chairman as a correct record.

OSC/71 Emergency planning and resilience presentation

Members received a presentation from the Health and Safety Inspector and the 
Environmental Health Manager on the Council’s responsibilities under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004.  They identified category one and two responders, the 
seven requirements under the Act and how the Council responded to an 
emergency through its Strategic Co-ordination Team, Tactical Co-ordination 
Team and Operational Team commenting that the teams are interchangeable 
depending on the emergency.

Emphasis was placed on the role that members could, and should, have in an 
emergency in that they are the Council’s ‘eyes and ears’ on the ground 
commenting that a lot of good work comes from working with members. 
Egremont councillors deserve special praise where there have been a number of 
incidents.

Members were informed of the role of the hub at Whitehaven Police Station and 
the single emergency control room at Moresby Parks depot.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Members raised a number of issues including the Cumbria Community Risk 
Register, frequency of flooding at Pow Beck, Academies being used as 
emergency centres, the role of members in resilience and the importance of 
training being rolled out to all members. Councillor Gill gave thanks to the 
officers for the presentation. After consideration of the issues it was 

RESOLVED: That a recommendation be made to the Member Development 
Working Group that training be arranged for all members on emergency 
planning and that the presenting officers assist with the scoping out of such 
training.

OSC/72 Executive Forward Plan 

RESOLVED: That the Executive forward plan as at the 14th February 2017 be 
noted.

OSC/73 Report of the representative to the Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor Gill, as representative to the Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee, submitted a written report on matters arising from his attendance at 
the last four meetings of the Committee held on the 10th January and 7th, 8th and 
10th February 2017.  Issues referred to included the travel impact relating to the 
success regime consultation and lack of impact assessment for travelling by 
public transport; that there had only been one never event in 2016 compared 
with 12 in 2015 which was a huge improvement; that significant improvements 
were being made to cancer services within the Trust’s area; and the division of 
the Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group and that the Committee’s focus will 
be with the North Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group. After consideration of 
the report it was

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

OSC/74 Updates from Task and Finish Groups

Members received updates on the Success Regime, Social Media Policy and 
Accommodation Review Group and a request for a further Group to be 
established to consider recycling. Councillor Holliday raised issues arising from 
the Committee’s Performance Sub-Committee which had met earlier in the day 
in respect of budget savings and a review of key performance indicators. 

RESOLVED:

(a)   That the position on the Success Regime, waiting for the outcome of the  
consultation exercise, be noted;

(b)   That the social media policy revisions be referred to Council on March 

Page 2



21st;
(c)   That a further meeting of the accommodation review group be arranged 

to update members in respect of the Copeland Centre accommodation 
project;

(d)  That Councillors Gill, Branney, Hitchen, O’Kane and Pollen be appointed 
to the recycling task and finish group and an invitation be made to any 
other member of the Committee who wishes to attend to join the group; 
and

(e) That the Performance Sub-Committee be tasked with proactively (a) 
reviewing and identifying budget savings as part of the £1.7m required 
savings for 2018/19; and (b) reviewing the Council’s performance 
indicators which are to be set for the coming financial year. 

OSC/75 Work programme update

Members considered their work programme for the remainder of 2016/17 and 
whether any matters should be added or removed. After consideration of the 
matter it was 

RESOLVED that:

(a)  A review of policing within Copeland’s area be undertaken and that a  
  draft scope for the review be submitted to the Committee’s April 
       meeting;

(b)  That the review of disabled facilities grants be brought to the    
  Committee’s April meeting;

(c)   That consideration be given to the standard of performance of housing 
  associations and how we can address any poor performance;

(d)   That all members be requested to submit a written report to the annual 
Council meeting, or if not possible the June meeting, on their attendance 
on outside bodies for the previous  municipal year; 

(e)  That the reviews referred to in minute OSC/74(e) be added to the 
 programme; 

(f)   That the last review on waste management and the plan agreed as part  
of that review be reviewed; and

(g)  That the Committee’s meeting scheduled for the 7th March be cancelled 
due to its closeness with this meeting.

The meeting closed at 5.55pm.

……………………………………..
Chair

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview & Scrutiny Committee 14/03/17
  

COPELAND PRIDE OF PLACE SCHEME – TOWN/VILLAGE CENTRES BUILDING REGENERATION
                                   
LEAD OSC MEMBER 
(CHAIR)

Councillor Ray Gill

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham/ Mike Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Sarah Mitchell

Why has this report come to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee? (e.g. Committee 
request, update report)

On 28th February, the Council agreed the Capital Programme budget from 2017-2020.  
The agreement included a request to that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
appoint a Task and Finish Group to consider the detail of the proposed Town Centres 
Regeneration Scheme and to make proposals to the Executive, in April 2017, which 
addresses the key points raised in the report to Full Council.

SUMMARY:

As part of its initiative to develop “Pride of Place” and towards delivery of the Corporate 
Strategy, the Council is seeking to provide an investment scheme that encourages shops 
and businesses in towns and villages to enhance their external appearance and improve 
the Borough’s built environment and street scene.  The intention is that this scheme 
should be delivered in partnership with the locality based Regeneration Partnerships 
and Town and Parish Councils, and that the development of the concept should benefit 
from input from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Copeland Pride of Place Scheme is aimed at creating an uplift in our towns and 
villages, and this project will target improvements to business frontages and public 
realm and so enhance the appearance and appeal of the town and village centres to 
visitors, customers and residents.  Indirectly it will preserve and enhance the special 
character of conservation areas and buildings within it and overall it should assist 
towards encouraging further inward investment and stimulating business and consumer 
confidence. 

Indicatively, the financial split would be £375,000 allocated to principal town centres of 
Whitehaven, Cleator Moor, Egremont and Millom; £75,000 allocated to villages; and 
£50,000 allocated for street improvements of a capital nature.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



RECOMMENDATIONS:

That OSC, either directly or through the appointment of a Task & Finish Group, considers the 
proposed scheme in further detail towards making proposals to the Executive, particularly (but not 
exclusively) on the following points:

 The amount of individual grants and the types of works to be undertaken; 
 Who can receive grants, particularly the boundaries of eligible geographical areas including 

villages; 
 The mechanism for processing and approving grants; 
 Grant conditions; 
 Promotion and publicity of the scheme; and 
 Whether public realm projects should also be funded, and as part of that how parish councils 

would be engaged in undertaking public realm improvements or provide seasonal improvements 
in town and villages. 

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Council has taken a lead in terms of supporting growth in Copeland, towards 
generating greater investment and employment in the Borough, and as a key strand 
within its Delivering Differently programme.  A central ambition within the Corporate 
Strategy is Town Centre Regeneration with the aim that our towns, villages and streets 
should reflect the prosperity of the area.  One of the key deliverables with the Corporate 
Plan is to explore grant funding opportunities to trigger the transformation of town 
centre buildings.

1.2 Copeland has previously supported several successful building improvement grant 
schemes across the four key towns, which have helped to bring empty and dilapidated 
commercial premises back into use or give much needed building facelift assistance to 
local businesses.  This scheme will build on the experience gained through those 
schemes to incentivise local businesses to engage in improving the commercial and 
retail sector in our key service centres.  

1.3 The Scheme will aim to improve business frontages and so enhance the appearance and 
appeal of the town centres to visitors, customers and residents.  Indirectly it will 
preserve and enhance the special character of conservation areas and buildings within 
it, and overall it should assist towards encouraging further inward investment and 
stimulate business and consumer confidence.

1.4 The possible types of works to be included could be shop front improvements (works to 
improve the exterior of the building, window frames and windows, doorways, external 
decoration and signage).  An option could also be to offer a “shop jacket” aspect to help 
premises that are in reasonable condition, but remain empty and impact the high street 

Page 6



through creating vacant space.  Works above street level would be considered where 
they will be a significant visual impact on the street scene.  It is suggested that as the 
scheme is rolled out that enquiries to undertake more significant works are logged, to 
allow the Council the opportunity to explore where it can reinstate vacant premises and 
create new businesses and/or jobs.  Additional monies can also be allocated for street 
improvements of a capital nature (seating, fixed flower beds, flower towers, etc), but 
these would need to be developed in partnership with town and parish councils with 
ongoing agreement for maintenance of liabilities.

1.5 This is intended as a Council led initiative, but it does still provide an opportunity to 
complement and enhance related schemes, and will require the engagement of the 
localities and town/parish councils for successful delivery – both in terms of publicising 
the scheme and guiding grant awards where issues arise. 

1.6 Related interfaces include:  
 Whitehaven THI: The Town Centre Scheme will need to take account of the 

Whitehaven Townscape Heritage Initiative, which is currently ongoing within the 
conservation area.  It will need to ensure that its criteria are supportive of the THI 
scheme and that any works are compliant with Conservation Area requirements, 
with the additional involvement of the Council’s Conservation Officer.

 Enforcement: CBC Development Management is currently working on an initiative 
with the THI officer to promote conservation and heritage techniques on our listed 
buildings.  Publicity will be raised across the Borough, with a focus on Whitehaven, 
to help tackle the rise in unauthorised changes to buildings that are out of keeping 
with their conservation status.

 Planning Policy:  The THI, Planning Policy and Development Management teams 
are developing a Design Guide for our conservation areas.  The grants offered will 
need to support the delivery of good design and be compliant with the guidance 
being published.

 Locality-based and Town/Parish Council Building Initiatives: Regen NE Copeland 
and West Copeland both have funds earmarked within their partnerships to 
support building and town centre improvements.  Whitehaven Town Council also 
have a scheme offering shops with minor support to external frontages and part of 
the scheme development will be to see where joint working can create greater 
value.

Page 7



2 OVERVIEW

2.1 The proposal for the implementation of the Towns Centres Regeneration Scheme is:
 To run the scheme under the banner of Copeland Pride of Place, so that the aims 

behind the scheme are explicit and to allow the project to complement other 
initiatives that are also being rolled out by the Council to uplift the local area.

 To concentrate the scheme at our four main towns of Whitehaven, Millom, 
Egremont and Cleator Moor, but also to target village centres, based on the 
Council’s settlement hierarchy and those on highly visible locations on strategic 
routes, such as the A595 and A5086.

 To focus grants for buildings at the £5k or no more than 50% of the value of 
work required, as a method of uplifting the image of the towns.  This is based on 
both Copeland’s and other Local Authorities experience of running these 
schemes, which have supported applications for external painting and signage 
and had dramatic effects in terms of local awareness of improvements in the 
town and improved perceptions.

 To use criteria for the building scheme that restricts grants to external painting; 
signage; shop windows, including blinds, some window dressing including a 
“shop jacket” approach, etc.  This change is aimed to maximise the impact of the 
scheme in terms of perceptions of the high streets.  

 To separately develop up a scheme for public realm/ street improvements of a 
capital nature, following further discussion with the four town councils to 
determine the potential for both possible schemes and match funding.  

 To submit these proposals to the Executive on the basis that interest in the 
scheme will be monitored at the end of quarter one, with a view to undertaking 
a mini-review of the scheme at the end of quarter two to ensure that the 
opportunity to create improvements or widening the scheme is taken early on, 
with a view to rolling out any changes within the remaining year of the scheme.  

2.2 Issues for consideration:
 Value for Money and Impact – the scheme will be launched on the proposals 

outlined above to offer grants of up to £5k or 50% of costs.  Previous schemes have 
included larger grants that have been capable of supporting building owners to 
bring empty premises back into use and create a new business and jobs as a result.  
It is suggested that early promotion and engagement with town and parish councils 
logs where larger scheme opportunities may be available with a view to capturing 
these at the 6-month project review.  If evidence suggests that an option to bring 
in larger grants at that point would have positive take up, then the project team 
could bring this back to OSC or the Project Steering Group with options to deliver 
larger scheme in conjunction with the existing programme.

 Targeting and phased approach – it is suggested that the scheme is targeted 
initially at the town centre and village conservation areas, plus to target villages in 
the settlement hierarchy that are defined local centres or are located directly on 
the A595 and A5086.  Applications would be monitored at first quarter and 

Page 8



reviewed at six months to gauge whether the restrictions should be lifted 
depending on grant take up.

 Governance and resourcing – an internal project officer group has been established 
to develop the scheme and this will continue to run throughout the project.  A 
project officer will also be required to administer the project and process 
applications and claims and the options for this resource are currently being 
reviewed.  It is proposed that a Project Steering Group is formed to oversee and 
monitor the reporting of the scheme involving CBC members, plus representatives 
from the Community Regeneration Partnerships and the four Town Councils 
impacted by the scheme.  That Steering Group would also be supported by a Parish 
Advisory Group that would have a nominated contact in each parish who would 
work with the Steering and Project Groups to promote the scheme and support 
grant allocations in their respective parishes.

 Clear criteria and process – previous schemes and experience provides a basis for 
applications, grant awards and monitoring that is being adapted to this scheme.  
This process allows eligible applications to be processed and monitored by the 
Steering Group, whilst keeping them free to concentrate on the development of 
the scheme in terms of options to support larger projects and the public 
realm/street scene element of the project.  Sample documents are being 
developed for information.

 Clawback – although the grant limit suggested is relatively low, experience has 
shown that recipients may still use the grant to upgrade a building for sale and 
personal profit.  Charges can be registered against buildings to protect against 
private profiteering from the public purse and the scheme includes a five-year 
formula on an annual 20% sliding scale to protect the Council from exposure.

 Promotion and Publicity – previous schemes have shown that early engagement, 
often face to face, with leafleting and wide promotion help the schemes to be 
more successful in delivery.  There are limited resources to raise the profile of the 
scheme and the role of members and communities in helping to promote the 
scheme will be key to ensuring that this is a successful scheme with the impact 
desired.

 Public realm – many town and village centres would benefit from additional 
investment in their public realm and the THI scheme had an allowance to focus on 
the plaza at the end of James Street to create a great outdoor space at the heart of 
the scheme to complement the building works.  This can be the most time-
consuming element of delivery and has long-term maintenance issues, but could 
be considered as an element within the scheme to enhance public areas, if 
solutions to maintenance and partner buy-in can be secured.  The proposal at this 
stage is that the Project Team undertake further project development work against 
this aspect as a separate workstream to allow more detailed discussion with the 
Town Councils to explore potential projects, match funding and maintenance 
issues.  Proposals can then be brought back to the Steering Group before the end 
of Quarter 2.

Page 9



 Development Management and Conservation – the scheme will need to reinforce 
Development Management principles and the emerging Conservation Design 
guide.  The scheme works on the basis that planning permission is required to be in 
place prior to grant award, but some schemes may have a “conservation premium” 
where works incur additional costs to meet heritage standards.  It is proposed that 
the Project Group monitor applications that fall into this category, with the 
intention of keeping the Steering Group informed and providing them with the 
opportunity to increase an award where significant additional conservation or 
heritage benefits can be realised.

2.3 In summary, this Scheme has the potential to help transform our towns, villages and 
streets in Copeland:
 through upgrading our built environment and creating upgraded active shop 

fronts.
 through stimulating interest in development and investment in Copeland, show 

casing what we have to offer; and
 to create a platform for attracting investment into our Borough.

3 CURRENT PROGRAMME

3.1 The OSC Task & Finish group will meet in March to consider the scheme and make 
recommendations on the detail of implementation. 

3.2 Following OSC, the Copeland Pride of Place scheme for Town and Village Centres will be 
taken to the Executive in April for further project approval before any expenditure is 
incurred.

3.3 Once Executive have approved the final scheme it will be rolled out across the specified 
areas of the Borough and run until 31st October 2018.

4 CONCLUSION 

4.1 The Copeland Pride of Place scheme for Town and Village Centres is a major opportunity 
for the Council to help improve and upgrade our built environment.  The experience of 
these schemes run previously in Copeland and elsewhere, is that they are a positive way 
to stimulate building owners to invest in their properties. whilst creating more vibrant 
town and village centres to attract people in to invest, live and work in Copeland.

Page 10



5 STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS (IF APPLICABLE) 

5.1 Monitoring Officer Comments: 

Council on the 28th February 2017 requested the Committee to appoint a Task and 
Finish Group to consider the proposed scheme in detail and to make proposals to the 
Executive on its implementation. Members first task is to appoint the Task and Finish 
Group. If this comprises of members present at the Committee meeting then it can start 
work on this matter immediately. If other members are to be appointed to the Group 
then it might be prudent to defer consideration of the matter until the Group meets. 
Should debate proceed at the Committee meeting then it may be prudent to 
concentrate on the shop improvements part of the scheme first and get that up and 
running. The environmental improvements part of the scheme is likely to be more 
detailed and complex and involve other partners like the County Council as highway 
authority and parish councils. In progressing the shop improvements scheme (£375,000 
for the four towns and £75,000 for villages) members need to consider catchment areas 
for the town centres, the criteria for grants and what will be required to qualify for a 
grant, the conditions upon which a grant is given (including clawback), and how the 
scheme is to be rolled out (by whom, how, involvement of town and parish councils). In 
respect of legal issues the Council  is using its own funds and can set its own terms and 
conditions for providing a grant provided the same are reasonable.

5.2 Section 151 Officer Comments – To Follow

5.3 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Comments

6 OTHER CONSULTEE COMMENTS  

Consultees:

Background Paper and Appendices:

Capital Programme budget from 2017-2020

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2017
	4 Copeland Pride of Place Scheme - Town/Village Centres Building Regeneration.

